RECEIVED

08-17-2012

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2012AP0839 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CURTIS E. FORBES,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ALAN J. WHITE PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, CURTIS E. FORBES

Criminal Appeals Project, Frank J. Remington Center University of Wisconsin Law School 975 Bascom Mall Madison, WI 53706 (608) 265-2471

Byron C. Lichstein Anita M. Boor Hilary C. Lennox State Bar No. 1048483 Law Student Visiting Attorney

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. The circuit court ruled that police violated Forbes's 4th Amendment rights by illegally remaining in his home, without consent, after he had been arrested and removed from the home pursuant to a warrant for his DNA. After Forbes was removed, officers remained in the home and interrogated Forbes's wife, Debra, for seven hours. Based on this 4th Amendment violation, the court suppressed Debra's statements. The court later ruled, however, that these statements were admissible to impeach her trial testimony.

Did the circuit court err in admitting Debra's illegally obtained statements for impeachment purposes?

II. Did the circuit court err in preventing the defense from presenting certain evidence implicating an alternate suspect?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Forbes requests neither oral argument nor publication, because the briefs will adequately address the issues, and because the issues can be decided based on settled law.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Murder and the Initial Investigation in 1980

On March 11, 1980, at approximately 7:15 A.M., Lane McIntyre called his mother and told her that his eighteen year old wife, Marilyn McIntyre, had been murdered in their living room (164:1189). Lane's mother called the police (164:1189).

Investigators arrived and examined the body. The medical examiner concluded that the time of Marilyn's death was any time within 24 hours of the investigators' arrival (which was approximately 10:45 A.M. on March 11, 1980) (146:34). The investigators on the scene permitted Lane to leave with his mother (161:438). He was given a sedative and allowed to sleep at his parents' house (160:72,84;161:438).

The victim's autopsy revealed that she had been "savagely" beaten in the head area, strangled, and stabbed in the chest by a kitchen knife (146:12). The knife came from the McIntyre residence (164:1230). The police investigation found no sign of forced entry (163:1006). The coroner also noted older, unrelated injuries on the victim's body (160:35-36). These injuries involved scratched knees and a bruise in the vaginal area (160:35-36).

In the time period shortly before the murder, Lane committed several violent acts against the (44;58;152:7-14).1 Approximately three months before the murder, Lane became angry with Marilyn at a Christmas gathering and beat her in front of family (44;58;152:7-14). The weekend prior to Marilyn's death, witnesses saw Lane attack Marilyn outside a friend's residence (44;58;152:7-14). He struck her in her face, knocking her to the ground (44;58;152:7-14). As she attempted to crawl away on a gravel driveway, Lane kicked her from behind in her vaginal area (44;58;152:7-14). During a separate incident, Lane punched a hole in a bar wall after he fought with Marilyn outside the bar (44;58;152:7-14). Lane purchased a life insurance policy on the victim three days before her death, and collected \$10,000 upon her death (164:1213-1216).

-

¹ As explained in more detail in section II of the "Argument" below, the circuit court excluded some of this evidence concerning Lane McIntyre.

Lane's pattern of spousal abuse continued into his second marriage (58:3). In an interview with law enforcement, Lane described an incident with his second wife, in which he grabbed her by her throat and lifted her from the ground by her neck (44;58;152:7-14). Lane did this because, as he put it, "I'm the man of the house. Nobody's taking that away from me" (44;58;152:7-14).

At around 10:30 p.m. the night before the victim was found dead (within the time-of-death window described by the coroner), neighbors in the upstairs apartment heard Lane and the victim arguing loudly (161:322-323,341-342). The upstairs neighbor specifically recognized Lane's voice (161:323). She testified that she had heard the McIntyres fighting in the past, especially if they had been drinking (146:75). A neighbor adjacent to the McIntyre residence also heard an argument shortly after 10 P.M (161:341-342; 349). Though Lane has always maintained that his wife must have been killed early in the morning of March 11 after he went to work for the late shift that night, he put March 10 as the date of death on her headstone (160:438-439;164:1240-1243).

Early in the investigation, Lane was instrumental in casting suspicion on his friend, Curtis Forbes (164:1225-1226;54:7) Lane requested a meeting with law enforcement, and told them, "Curtis Forbes would be the first suspect in his mind concerning Marilyn's Murder" (164:1225-1226;54:7).

Police thus investigated Forbes as a possible suspect in the days after the murder. According to officers, Forbes gave them "no holds barred" access to his truck two days after the homicide (160:194). Police seized a sweater Forbes had been wearing on the night of the murder, as well as a wooden boat oar which Forbes kept in his truck (44:3). No blood, hair, skin or any other biological substances from the victim were found

on these items (44:3). Forbes also voluntarily provided a hair sample, and consented to an interview (160:194-199).

When it became clear to Forbes (who was 18 years old at the time) that police were considering him a suspect, he briefly left the area. Shortly after he left, he sent letters to Lane McIntyre, Debra, and his parents. In each letter, he said that he did not commit the crime and did not want to go to jail for something he did not do (162:592,593,595). Several months later, he came back to the area on his own accord (162:713). Upon his return, he told police that he had left because they "were accusing him or were considering him as a suspect" (176:Ex.2). He said that he had unpaid bills and had just broken up with Debra (his girlfriend at the time who later became his wife) (176:Ex.2).

Police in 1980 did not arrest Forbes, or anyone else, for the murder. From 1980 until 2008, Forbes lived continuously in the Columbus area (162:715:716;169:56-57). He married and raised his children there (162:715-716;169:56-57). He set up and ran his own business (163:1110;169:56-57). He was not convicted of any crimes (168:51-52).

The 2008-2009 Investigation

In 2008, police reopened the investigation and arranged for DNA testing of various samples.² As part of this process, police obtained a warrant to collect a DNA sample from Forbes (33:1). In the course of serving that warrant, officers entered Forbes's home, arrested and removed him from the home, and then remained in the home to interrogate

4

-

² The results of the DNA testing became the subject of a pre-trial hearing (153). The State argued that it should be allowed to present evidence that Forbes was not excluded from a sample found in the bathroom sink, but the circuit court excluded the result as inconclusive (153:43-44).

his wife for approximately seven hours (150:305-307). As explained in more detail below, the circuit court ruled that the officers violated Forbes's 4th Amendment rights by remaining in the home without consent after Forbes was arrested and removed (33;App.B).

The events leading to that interrogation began early on March 24, 2009, when police gathered at a church in preparation for serving the warrant on Forbes at his house (33:1). The plan, according to one of the detectives, was for approximately 10 officers to meet at the church, go to Forbes's residence, arrest him, and then interrogate Debra (149:38). As Forbes was driving away from the house to go to work, police pulled him over and informed him that they had a warrant to collect his DNA (33:1-2). Forbes agreed to accompany them, but asked if he could drop his car back at his home and make work arrangements (33:2). Police agreed and followed him back to his home.

Forbes went in to his home, and police followed him in (33:2). Forbes attempted to explain the situation to his wife, who had just woken up and was still in her nightclothes (150:223). Additional officers arrived and entered the house as well (33:3). After approximately half an hour, officers handcuffed Forbes, removed him from the house, and drove him away (33:3). Police did not take Forbes to a medical facility to obtain his DNA; instead, he was taken to the police station and interrogated (33:3).

After several officers removed Forbes from the home, other officers did not leave (164:1031). Rather, they remained in the home and interrogated Forbes's wife (150:305-307).

Police admitted that they employed a variety of interrogation techniques on Debra in an attempt to obtain incriminating information (163:840-857). One such strategy

was isolating Debra from her allies and the people close to her (163:853). The interrogators told Debra they had "indisputable" physical evidence of Forbes's guilt, and they therefore said that Debra's life as she knew it was "over" (176:Ex.12:212,22,72,79)³. They said repeatedly: "He's taken care of. He's done. He's not coming back and you need to accept that and figure this out. He's not coming back. He's going to jail" (*See, e.g.,* 176:Ex.12:2,3,4,12,22,72).

The interrogators repeatedly told Debra that she was a suspect, threatened that she could be charged as party to the murder, and said she would go to jail as well. The interrogators said: "You could be arrested and charged with a crime, party to the crime of homicide, because of your assistance back 29 years ago" (176:Ex.12:6). They told her: "It has been decided that you could potentially be charged with party to the crime of homicide" (176:Ex.12:16). The interrogators admitted they told Debra that others were pressuring them to charge her, but that they could resist this pressure if Debra gave them information (163:863:865). The interrogators admitted they were lying about this (163:863-865).

The interrogators also attempted to turn Debra against her husband by telling her that he had repeatedly cheated on her ("you've been loyal to him and he hasn't always been loyal to you"), and by telling her that he had impregnated another woman while Debra was in the hospital giving birth (to a child who later died) (176:Ex.12:12-14). They told Debra that it was her responsibility to take care of her son and daughter, and she could only do this by giving a statement and staying out of jail (176:Ex.12:14). They said, "Now it

_

³ Document 176, Ex. 12 is the transcript of Debra Forbes's recorded interrogation. The transcript in this Court's file does not have page numbers. Undersigned counsel has thus hand-written page numbers on counsel's own copy, and cited the document accordingly.

isn't going to do you any bit of good to be going to Portage [County Jail] is it?" (176:Ex.12:6).

The detectives admitted that they explicitly pressured Debra to confirm their version—that Forbes came home at 4:00 A.M. the night of the murder, and that Debra woke up and saw blood on him (176:Ex.12:7,12,38;163:855-856,894). When one of the interrogators asked Debra what time she woke up that night, she said, "I don't know, morning I suppose" (176:Ex.:12:7). The interrogator responded, "But you didn't wake up the next morning. You woke up in the middle of the night" (176:Ex.:12:7). Later, when Debra said she woke up at 2:00 A.M., not 4:00, the interrogator said, "No, we know all about the whole 2:00 and 4:00....It's confirmed that it's 4:00 A.M." (176:Ex.12:12). interrogators said: "He came there early in the morning. I don't give a shit if it was midnight, 2:00 or 4:00 or 8:00 A.M. He comes there with bloody clothes. You're wakened up" (176:Ex.12:38;163:866-867).

Initially, Debra responded to the police pressure by saying that she did not remember, asking what they wanted her to do, and saying she did not understand (*See e.g.* 176:Ex.12:2-6,87,91). At certain points she became emotionally distraught and confused (*See e.g.* 176:Ex.12:71-73;163:878). She described herself as severely traumatized, numb, terrified, and confused (150:224). The interrogators admitted that she looked like a "deer in the headlights" (163:878-880). One of the interrogators responded to her lack of memory by saying:

And if you don't remember it or you choose not to say it or whatever, that's whats gonna get you in trouble Debbie, plain and simple, that the thing that's gonna hang you.

(176:Ex.2:77).

Eventually, she said: "What do I need to remember?" (163:888). Four and a half hours into the interview, Debra responded to police pressure and confirmed that she saw blood on Forbes's shirt (176:Ex.12:156). She also confirmed that Forbes was agitated when he came in (176:Ex.12:71).

Police never told Debra she had the right to ask them to leave or to speak to an attorney (163:861-862). When she went to the bathroom at one point, an interrogator followed her and stood outside the door (150:225).

Later that day, Forbes was charged, based partially on the statements obtained from Debra's interrogation (33:3).

Two days later, Forbes called home from jail and spoke to Debra for the first time (51:3)(65:1-4)(163:944). The telephone conversation was recorded as per jail procedure (51:3). The conversation began with a discussion between Forbes and his son, James. Initially, Debra refused to talk to Forbes, because she first wanted to read the criminal complaint to "know what the hell they've got" on Forbes.

Eventually, however, Debra agreed to speak to Forbes, and asked him about the alleged blood that police had interrogated her about (159:46). The following exchange occurred:

Debra: I have to find out what the facts are first.

Curtis: The facts are Debra I did not murder Marilyn McIntyre.

Debra: Then where'd the bloody shirt come from?

Curtis: I'll explain all that. I did not kill Marilyn.

Debra: Well explain it to me then.

Curtis: Not on the phone.

(159:46).

Motion to Suppress Debra's Statements

Before trial, the defense moved to suppress Debra's statements from the interrogation (20,21). The defense argued that police only had a warrant to collect Forbes's DNA, and that once Forbes was arrested and removed from the home, officers no longer had authority or consent to remain on the premises and interrogate Debra. The defense argued that Debra's statements were fruit of the illegal police conduct.

After a motion hearing which included extensive testimony, the circuit court agreed that police violated Forbes's 4th Amendment rights by remaining in his home without consent after he was arrested and removed from the home (33:11-12;App.B:11-12). Accordingly, the court ruled that all statements and evidence taken from Debra must be suppressed (33:12;App.B:12). Later, however, after various pleadings and on-the-record discussions, the court concluded that Debra's statements could be admitted to impeach her trial testimony (154:8;App.D:7;157:60;App.E:10).⁴

Motion to Present 3rd Party Perpetrator Evidence

Forbes's presented the defense that Lane McIntyre, not Forbes, committed the murder (*see*, *e.g.*, 166:112). Forbes asked for permission to present various evidence about

⁴ These various proceedings are discussed in much more detail in the Argument section below.

Lane's pattern of domestic violence toward the victim and his subsequent wife (44:4)(58:1-4). The trial court prohibited Forbes from presenting, among other things, evidence that Lane struck the victim in front of family months before her death (58:2), and evidence that Lane assaulted his subsequent wife by grabbing her neck and sliding her up a garage wall (58:3).⁵

The Trial

The State's theory was that, on the night of the murder, Forbes was "on the prowl," flirting with and pursuing multiple women (165:1-7). The State called two women who encountered Forbes at bars that night, and said that he flirted with or propositioned them (one of these women was Lane McIntyre's sister, a lifelong friend of Forbes's)(160:66,111-112). The State theorized that, when he was unsuccessful with these women, he went to the victim's home at around 3:00 A.M., knowing that the victim's husband was gone working the night shift. The State posited that the victim opened the door and let Forbes in, but that she turned down his sexual advances, after which he brutally attacked her.

No witnesses saw Forbes at the victim's home that night. The State presented no physical evidence connecting Forbes to the crime in any way. Instead, the State relied heavily on the theory that Debra saw blood on Forbes when he arrived home that night, and that he was agitated. When she testified at trial, Debra said that she did not see any blood on Forbes when he returned home (162:720). However, the State then used her illegally obtained statement, in which she said she had seen blood on him (163:837). Testifying at trial, Debra said that she was nervous and in shock when she spoke to police (163:834-837). The defense argued that Debra's

_

⁵ The victim in this case was strangled (160:18-19).

statement to police was the result of pressure, suggestion, and deception by police (166:104-111).

In opening and closing arguments, the State repeatedly emphasized Debra's statement about the blood (160:17-18,37,47;163:942;165:48,76-79,81,85,86,87,88). The State began its opening:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, this is a case about following the blood. And when you follow the blood of Marilyn McIntyre, it leads to the defendant, Curtis Forbes.

(160:17-18). The State concluded its opening by saying:

She says, "then where'd the bloody shirt come from," the same bloody shirt that she saw the defendant wearing with the blood at 4 AM. He says, "I'll explain all that," and repeats that he didn't kill Marilyn. Mrs. Forbes says, "Well, then explain it to me." And he tells her, "not on the phone."

That, Ladies and Gentlemen, is an overview of the evidence that the state will introduce in order to show that Marilyn McIntyre's blood, when you follow it, it leads to the defendant, Curt Forbes.

(160:47).

The State repeated this strategy in closing, punctuating its lengthy argument by urging the jury: "Follow the blood, ladies and gentlemen. Follow the blood" (165:75). The State repeated: "The blood's on the sweater or the white shirt" (165:76). The State then played Debra's statement again for the jury (165:76), and then emphasized Forbes and Debra talking about it on the jail phone call (165:77).

Apart from Debra Forbes's statements, the State also relied on several witnesses who claimed Forbes made incriminating statements to them. The first was Gary Bednar, who had previously served time in prison for a murder, and who admitted he bore a grudge against Forbes (146:148-163). Bednar claimed that one day while visiting Forbes's house, Forbes told Bednar that he took a friend's wife home from a bar, killed her and got away with it (161:453). The defense pointed out that there was no evidence the victim in this case was at a bar the night of her murder; rather, she was at her home with her newborn child. Bednar claimed this confession took place in 2002, but he admitted that he did not tell police about it until 2009 (161:455).

Another witness, Shane Thompson, was in jail with Forbes while Forbes was awaiting trial. Thompson claimed that Forbes confessed to killing the victim so that she would not tell his girlfriend he was cheating on her (162:505). Thompson, however, admitted to signing a written statement for police in connection with this case in which he acknowledged, "I have a problem with lying" (162:517).

Finally, the State relied on testimony from two witnesses named Dean Sonnenberg and Mary Bailey (a woman who had an affair with Forbes years before (161:265)). Sonnenberg did not recognize Forbes and could not remember any confession (161:253). Bailey testified that, in 1982, Sonnenberg mentioned meeting a guy in a bar whose name he thought he remembered as "Curt," and that this "Curt" confessed to killing someone (161:265).

Apart from the Debra Forbes evidence and the evidence from Bednar, Thompson, and Bailey, the State also argued that Forbes had behaved suspiciously both at the time of the initial investigation and in 2009 when the investigation

was re-opened. The State argued that, even though Forbes came back to the area after initially leaving, he had grown a beard when he came back months later in a "savvy" and "very concerted effort" to "change his appearance" (165:94-95). The State also relied on the theory that Forbes, in 2009, purchased a rubber raft from Farm & Fleet because he was "planning his disappearance" (165:40,68). The State theorized that Forbes's plan was to "sink the boat and disappear" on Lake Michigan by "faking his death," and then meet up with Debra in Hawaii (165:68,69,70,73,74).

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