RECEIVED

11-09-2012

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2012AP839-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CURTIS E. FORBES,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR
COLUMBIA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE
ALAN J. WHITE PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX
OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN
Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857
(608) 261-8118
(608) 266-9594 (fax)
burgundysl@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM FORBES'S CONVICTION BECAUSE THE ADMISSION OF DEBRA'S STATEMENT WAS NOT IN ERROR AND ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

This issue concerns Debra's statement to police in March 2009 that when Forbes arrived at her parents' house on March 11, 1980, she saw blood on his clothing: "That's where it was, he had a white shirt on underneath that blue sweater and I saw blood there." (177:Exh. 65).

Because Detectives Garrigan and Yerges entered the Forbeses' home without consent before they took Debra's statement, the circuit court initially ruled that the statement was obtained in violation of Forbes's Fourth Amendment rights and that the statement was suppressed as fruits of the poisonous tree. However, the court later allowed use of the statement to impeach Debra as a hostile State's witness, because the statement was otherwise voluntary and attenuated from the police illegality.

This case involves an unusual situation in which the defendant may challenge the statement of a non-defendant witness as a violation of that defendant's Fourth Amendment rights. *See, e.g., Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 140 (1978) (requiring that defendants show that challenged search infringed upon defendant's Fourth Amendment interest). The circuit court permitted use of the statement to impeach Debra, but did so after taking a somewhat circuitous path and by applying multiple tests

implicating Fifth Amendment voluntariness, Fourth Amendment attenuation, and the impeachment exception.

In the end, the circuit court reached the right result. It reversed itself to the extent that it framed the police officers' continued presence in the Forbeses' home as illegal based on Debra's cooperation and the tenor of the interview. Further, it found that her statement, made hours after the officers' illegal entry, was both voluntary and attenuated, and thus admissible.

That said, harmless error provides the narrowest grounds for this court to affirm the circuit court. *See State v. Blalock*, 150 Wis.2d 688, 703, 442 N.W.2d 514 (Ct. App. 1989) (appellate courts should decide cases on the narrowest possible grounds). Accordingly, the State presents that analysis first. However, it nevertheless follows with an explanation for why the circuit court did not err in admitting Debra's statement.

**A. Any error in the court's
admitting Debra's statement
was harmless.**

The majority of constitutional trial errors are subject to harmless error analysis. *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 306-07 (1991). A harmless error is one that occurs "during the presentation of the case to the jury, and [that] may therefore be quantitatively assessed in the context of other evidence presented in order to determine whether its admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 307-08. Admission at trial of evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment is subject to harmless-error analysis. *See, e.g., Chambers v. Maroney*, 399 U.S. 42, 52-53 (1970).

For an error to be harmless, the party benefitting from the error must demonstrate that "it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶45, 343 Wis.2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270 (quoting

Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999)); *see also* *State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶47, 301 Wis.2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115 (stating that “error is harmless if the beneficiary of the error . . . ‘complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained’”) (citation omitted). In other words, this court must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have—not simply could have—arrived at the same verdict absent the error. *Martin*, 343 Wis.2d 278, ¶45.

When considering whether the erroneous admission of evidence is harmless, the following seven factors, among others, assist the court’s analysis: (1) the frequency of the error; (2) the importance of the erroneously admitted evidence; (3) the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the erroneously admitted evidence; (4) whether the erroneously admitted evidence duplicates untainted evidence; (5) the nature of the defense; (6) the nature of the State’s case; and (7) and the overall strength of the State’s case. *Martin*, 343 Wis.2d 278, ¶46 (citing *Mayo*, 301 Wis.2d 642, ¶48).

Here, assuming admission of Debra’s statement was erroneous, the jury would have reached the same verdict without it.

1. The State infrequently used Debra’s statement.

As an initial matter, Forbes misleadingly equates any mention by the prosecutor of blood with a use of Debra’s statement. *See* Forbes’s brief at 11. The prosecutor could have made general remarks about Debra seeing blood based on other unchallenged evidence to that effect. Accordingly, the focus is on the State’s specific use of Debra’s statement.⁶

⁶For example, in his opening statement, the prosecutor referenced Debra’s seeing blood on Forbes’s shirt (159:37). That and other remarks generally referring to blood were not uses of Debra’s statement because, the prosecutor could have made those

The State used Debra's statement in no more than six total instances during the six-day trial. The jury heard the statement three times during the State's case-in-chief. The prosecutor called Debra as a witness and asked her about her March 24, 2009 interview with police (163:820). Debra acknowledged that she told police that Forbes was shaking and trembling when he arrived at her parents' house, but denied saying that he was wearing a white shirt under his sweater (163:821-23). Debra also claimed that her statement regarding the blood was inaccurate (163:821-22). The prosecutor then clarified that Debra disputed the accuracy of that particular statement by reading it aloud and receiving Debra's confirmation (163:822).

The prosecutor then called Detective Garrigan, who confirmed that Debra said that she saw blood on Forbes's shirt (163:839). The prosecutor then played the six-second audio clip of the statement (163:839). Garrigan also said that Debra gestured to her left wrist when she made the statement (163:839-40).

After Garrigan was cross-examined on the circumstances surrounding Debra's interview, the State recalled Debra to inquire about her claim that she had said that she had seen "a spot," not "blood" (163:909). At the prosecutor's request, Debra read aloud the portion of the transcript in which she indicated that she saw blood (163:909-10).

In addition, the State referenced the statement three times in closing argument and rebuttal. First, the prosecutor reviewed Beattie's testimony that Debra told her that she had seen blood on Forbes's sweater or shirt (165:48). He noted that Debra's statement to police corroborated that testimony, and argued that her reluctance in acknowledging that information was understandable given her long history and relationship

statements based on Beattie's testimony, Dilley's statement, and the jail phone call referencing blood on Forbes's clothing.

with Forbes (165:48-49). The prosecutor later re-referenced Debra's statement in summing up the State's case, replayed the clip, and repeated, "She saw the blood there" (165:76).

Finally, the prosecutor rebutted the defense's closing argument that the police forced Debra to make the statement: "A digital recording has Deb Forbes saying, 'Yes, the defendant came to my home, my parents' home. And when he came there at 4 in the morning he had blood on his shirt, and I saw it myself'" (165:82).

In all, the State used the statement itself a half-dozen times. Viewed in the context of the entire trial, the use was infrequent. *See Mayo*, 301 Wis.2d 642, ¶49 (examining the frequency of challenged references in the context of the entire trial). The State's references to Debra's statement take only approximately 9 out of over 1,500 pages of trial transcript, *see id.* (a challenged statement appearing in 7 sentences of 177-page transcript was not frequent). Moreover, as explained in more detail below, the prosecutor did not rely on it so much as to form the "backbone" of the State's case. *Cf. Martin*, 343 Wis.2d 278, ¶47 (use was frequent where the State discussed statements at length in its opening, closing, and case-in-chief).

2. Debra's statement that she saw blood on Forbes's shirt was not important to the jury's determination.

Determining what weight a jury places on a piece of erroneously admitted evidence can be difficult. However, in *Martin*, the supreme court isolated three factors that persuaded it that the challenged evidence—Martin's incriminating statement taken in violation of *Miranda*—was important. First, Martin's statement was the only piece of direct evidence linking Martin to the crime; second, the State highlighted "at length" Martin's

statement in both its opening and closing arguments making it the “backbone” of its case; and third, the jury, soon after beginning deliberations, sought clarification on the content of Martin’s statement and the officer’s questions prompting it. 343 Wis.2d 278, ¶¶48-51.

Two of the factors that persuaded the court in *Martin* are not present here. First, Debra’s statement was not direct evidence; rather, it was one small piece in an avalanche of circumstantial evidence: Forbes was attracted to Marilyn; he made advances toward several women that night; he knew that Marilyn was home without her husband; he had no explanation for his whereabouts between 1:15 and 4 a.m.; he was shaking and trembling at the Attlesons’; two people recall Debra telling them that Forbes had blood on him; Forbes implicitly acknowledged the bloody shirt’s existence in the jail phone call; Forbes fled the state soon after the murder; in intervening years, he told several people that he had gotten away with murdering a woman; he gave statements to police inconsistent with those of witnesses; and there was evidence that he planned to disappear again when the investigation reopened in 2008.

Furthermore, unlike in *Martin*, there is nothing to suggest that the jurors in fact relied on Debra’s statement. The jurors did not send any questions to the court or seek clarification after starting their deliberations, which began and ended on the same day. *See* 166:127-29. The only question from the jury came during trial, in which it asked for clarification on the rule of spousal privilege based on Debra’s testimony (104). The court responded, “The court determines what testimony is permitted based on the law” (104). That question and the court’s answer do nothing to suggest what weight, if any, the jury placed on Debra’s statement.

To be sure, the State referenced Debra’s statement in closing and rebuttal, which also occurred in *Martin*. However, the State highlighted the other unchallenged evidence indicating that Debra saw blood on Forbes’s

shirt presented through Beattie and Dilley. *See* 165:48, 75-76. Those two pieces of evidence, plus the jail phone call, would have provided the jury with the same reasonable basis to infer that Forbes had blood on his shirt absent Debra's statement. In sum, Debra's statement was neither the sole source of that evidence nor the keystone of the State's case.

**3. Other evidence
corroborates Debra's
statement; little
evidence contradicts it.**

Again, the State introduced three unchallenged pieces of evidence corroborating Debra's statement: (1) Beattie's testimony (163:802); (2) Dilley's statement (162:742-43); and (3) the jail phone call between Forbes and Debra (163:943-44). Additionally, there was correspondingly little to contradict Debra's statement. The statement was recorded. Moreover, while Dilley and Beattie had some confusion over details such as what clothing was bloody or whether the blood was related to something else, neither of them contradicted the statement's content.

This is unlike the situation in *Martin* where there was no other evidence to corroborate the challenged statement and thus likely elevated the significance of the challenged admitted statement. Compounding that, there was substantial evidence contradicting Martin's challenged statement, thus increasing the likelihood that the contradictory evidence would have been stronger without the challenged statement. *See* 343 Wis.2d 278, ¶55. That combination is not present here. Rather, with much to corroborate Debra's statement and little to directly contradict it, it likely had minimal impact on the jury's deliberation.

4. The other untainted evidence, taken together, duplicates Debra's statement to police.

This factor overlaps with the second factor above, and, for similar reasons, supports a determination of harmless error. The untainted Beattie and Dilley statements combined with the jail phone call duplicates Debra's statement: Two people reported either hearing or being told by Debra shortly after the murder that Forbes showed up at her parents' house with blood on his clothes. After Forbes was taken into custody, Debra asked Forbes to "explain the bloody shirt" and Forbes responded that he would do so later (176:Exh. 74 at 16:12-16:27). Thus, had Debra's statement never been used, the jury nevertheless would have had a basis upon which to find that Debra saw blood on Forbes's shirt.

5. Debra's statement had little to no impact on contradicting the defense theory.

Forbes's theory at trial was that the evidence was insufficient to support a finding of guilt and that Lane murdered Marilyn before leaving for his work shift on March 10, 1980. Debra's statement had little to no role in the State's rebuttal of either defense theory. As noted in the analyses above, Debra's statement was not only one of several pieces of evidence linking blood to Forbes's clothing, it was also one small piece in a tremendous amount of circumstantial evidence supporting the State's theory. The jury simply did not have to believe that Debra saw blood to reject the defense theory.

6. Debra's statement was not integral to the State's theory or strength of its case.

Taking the final two factors together, the State's case relied on a vast collection of circumstantial evidence that created a narrative explaining how Forbes had the opportunity and motive to murder Marilyn. Debra's statement was certainly part of that narrative, but it was not intractable, especially considering the other evidence from Beattie, Dilley, and Forbes himself. In his closing statements, the prosecutor painstakingly reviewed evidence explaining Forbes's motivation (he was seeking sexual gratification, had a known attraction to Marilyn, and he had been twice rejected that night); his opportunity (he had no explanation for where he was between 1:15 and 4 a.m., he knew Marilyn would be home alone, Clyde was unusually aggravated at 3 or 3:30 a.m.); and his actions suggesting his guilt (he left the state after the murder without telling anyone, his version of where he was that night changed several times and contradicted witness statements, and he commented to others about having murdered a woman) (165:2-48, 50-73). Mention of Debra's statement came late in the argument (165:48-49, 76), and again, it was just a small part of the quartet of "blood" evidence that the State presented.

Given all of that, Debra's statement that she saw some blood on Forbes's clothing was not a key to the State's theory. For that matter, it was not even inherently damning. Assuming the jury believed Debra's statement that she saw a stain that she believed to be blood, there was no evidence that it actually was blood or whose it was. It lacked details indicating how much blood was involved or that it was consistent with Forbes having committed a violent murder. A bloodstain on the cuff of the shirt was hardly an essential, required fact, in light of the other evidence presented, for the jury to have found Forbes guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

In sum, Debra's statement was infrequently used at trial, it was not highly important to the verdict, there was other untainted evidence corroborating and duplicating it, it had no impact on the defense theory, and it was not central to the overall strength of the State's case. The jury would have reached its verdict without it. Accordingly, the use of Debra's statement, even if it could be said to have been in error, was harmless. Hence, Forbes is not entitled to relief.

Because any assumed error based on the use of Debra's statement was harmless, this court need not address the remainder of the argument on this issue. If this court chooses to reach that argument, it was not error for the court to allow the State to use Debra's statement for the reasons explained below.

B. Debra's statement was not obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment because it was attenuated from the illegal police entry.

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